# **RECEIVED**

## COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT 4

06-17-2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

APPEAL CASE NO. 2019AP000629 WISCONSIN

Jama I. Jama,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

**Date:** June 14, 2019

**District:** 4

**Appeal No.** 2019AP000629

Circuit Court Case No. 2018CV001478

Three-Judge Appeal

Jason C. Gonzalez and Wisconsin Lawyers Mutual Insurance Company, Defendants-Respondents.

> Appeal from the Circuit Court of Dane County Honorable Valerie Bailey-Rihn Case No. 2018CV001478

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT JAMA I. JAMA

#### **INTRODUCTION**

"[A]s matter of public policy, persons who *actually commit the criminal offenses* for which they are convicted should not be permitted to recover damages for legal malpractice from their former defense attorneys." *Hicks v. Nunnery*, 253 Wis. 2d 721, 755 (Ct. App. 2002). This public policy element established by *Hicks* and its progeny serves as the entire basis of this appeal. The interpretation of the scope of this element will have a lasting impact on Wisconsin case law for decades to come. Not only will it affect legal malpractice in Wisconsin, but it could reshape how criminal defense attorneys view their practice and advocate for their clients.

At the very heart of this public policy is a plea for reason and accountability, requiring proof of innocence in order to recover in a legal malpractice action. Jama I. Jama has countlessly alleged his innocence of the two felony sexual assault charges that sentenced him to probation, required him to register as a sex offender, and eventually placed him in prison for over two years. Now, after his attorney was found ineffective, his convictions overturned, and his release from prison granted, Jama is somehow precluded from recovering malpractice damages based solely on his plea to a completely separate and distinct crime, albeit a crime that was a part of a singular criminal case. Such a conclusion runs afoul of the ruling and underlying public policy in *Hicks* and attempts to foreclose civil recovery of well-pled legal malpractice claims.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Issue 1: Must Jama allege that he is innocent of all charges in an underlying criminal action in order to adequately plead malpractice claims against his former defense attorney?

<u>Circuit Court Decision</u>: The Circuit Court held that Jama must plead that he is innocent as to every single criminal charge of an underlying criminal case in order to adequately plead the proof of innocence requirement for malpractice claims against Gonzalez.

Issue 2: Did the Circuit Court err in dismissing Jama's Complaint ruling he was estopped from pleading his innocence of two sexual assault claims because he pled guilty to a separate charge of theft?

<u>Circuit Court Decision</u>: The Circuit Court held that even though Jama has pled his innocence as to the sexual assault charges, he cannot meet the proof of innocence element for a legal malpractice claim due to a theft plea and dismissed the lawsuit with prejudice.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The Court should hear oral argument in this case. Each of the issues involves questions of first impression in Wisconsin. The Circuit Court recognized this issue as an area of first impression and anticipated further proceedings. (R. 23:2). Oral argument is necessary to address any questions regarding the parties' arguments on case law that is largely unsettled.

#### STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The Court should publish the decision in this matter under the considerations of Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(1)(a). There is very little published case law in Wisconsin dealing with the scope of the public policy element for legal malpractice. The decision in this case will clarify the law and impact not only the practice of legal malpractice but how criminal defense cases consisting of multiple charges are viewed and defended.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### **Procedural History**

Plaintiff-Appellant Jama I. Jama ("Jama") filed his Complaint in the Circuit Court of Dane County on June 7, 2018. (R. 1). An Amended Complaint was subsequently filed on November 16, 2018. (R. 13). Appellee-Defendant Jason C. Gonzalez ("Gonzalez") and his insurance provider, Wisconsin Lawyers Mutual Insurance Company, filed a renewed motion to dismiss the Amended Complaint. (R. 14). The circuit court issued its decision and order dismissing Jama's complaint with prejudice on February 13, 2019. (R. 19). Jama then filed his notice of appeal to the Wisconsin Court of Appeals. (R. 21).

#### Factual Background

#### State of Wisconsin v. Jama

Jama's malpractice action stems from the underlying criminal case, State of Wisconsin v. Jama, Case No. 12-CF-1759. (See R. 13:2-3). Gonzalez represented Jama during this criminal proceeding in 2012. *Id.* In total, Jama was charged with five counts of criminal conduct: Count 1 – second degree sexual assault, Count 2 – third degree sexual assault, Count 3 – Burglary, Count 4 – Burglary, and Count 5 – theft. (*Id.* at 5). On September 5, 2014, Jama's five-day trial resulted in verdicts of guilty on all five counts and he was taken into custody until his sentencing on December 4, 2014. Id. That same day, the presiding judge made a decision and order on the verdict finding that Gonzalez lacked a constant theory of defense or even a basic understanding of the rules of evidence. *Id.* Judge Berz set aside the verdicts for third degree sexual assault (Count 2) and both Burglary charges (Counts 3 & 4). Id. Judge Berz entered guilty verdicts for second degree sexual assault (Count 1) and theft (Count 5). (Id. at 5-6). On February 25, 2016, the Court of Appeals reversed Judge Berz's dismissal of the third degree sexual assault charge and remanded the case to Circuit Court to reinstate the verdict on the sexual assault (Count 2). (Id. at 5); see State v. Jama, 2016 WI App 26, 367 Wis. 2d 748, 877 N.W.2d 650. The alleged criminal actions of sexual assault and theft were against a singular victim, but the conduct allegedly occurred hours apart and consists of distinct and entirely separate acts. (R. 23:4).

After conviction, Jama was held for 284 days prior to sentencing. At sentencing Jama was sentenced to nine months (203 days) for his theft which the court ordered as time served and 6 years probation for his second degree sexual assault. (R. 13:5-6). The

additional 81 days served was credited to his felony convictions as good time. *Id.* Jama was ordered to register as a sex offender, probation, absolute sobriety, and eventually sat in prison for approximately two-and-a-half years as a result of the two sexual assault convictions for violating his probation. *Id.* 

Through different counsel, Jama filed a post-conviction motion for a new trial based upon ineffective assistance of counsel, and a Machner hearing was scheduled. Id. On February 10, 2017, all five of Jama's convictions were vacated due to ineffective assistance of counsel and a new trial was granted. (Id. at 7). The court went so far as to say that Jama did not have anyone to advocate for him or present his facts, and admonished Gonzalez for failing to have a grasp of even cursory rules of evidence. *Id*. Jama was released from prison and on September 20, 2017, Count's 1 thorough 4 were dismissed on the Prosecutor's motion. Id. Jama pled guilty to only Count 5 (theft) of the original charges and resisting or obstructing an officer, a new count that Gonzalez never represented him on. Id. Jama's sentence for theft had no bearing on his probation sentence, the additional 81 days credit towards the sexual assault, or the 40 year sentence he was serving for parole violations, of which he served two-and-a-half years. Further, Jama was required to register as a sex offender, was not allowed to consume alcohol and was banned from State Street in Madison, Wisconsin for a crime he did not commit and has asserted his innocence. (R. 23:4).

#### Jama v. Gonzalez

Jama's Complaint and subsequent Amended Complaint brought in the Circuit Court of Dane County alleged six claims for relief for legal malpractice against Gonzalez

and his insurance provider, expressly identifying negligent actions and inactions in Gonzalez' representation. (R. 1, 13). Gonzalez moved for a motion to dismiss that was granted by the Circuit Court. (R. 14). The Circuit Court in its oral decision summarized the legal argument behind the motion to dismiss as follows: "[s]o then the question is under the current state of the law, is pleading guilty to one charge sufficient to prevent a legal malpractice in this situation?" (R. 23:4). The Court further assumed for purposes of the motion to dismiss that the first four elements of a legal malpractice claim could be met by the pleadings. (*Id.* at 6-7). The Court rightly focused on the fifth and final element, proof of innocence. This element was established for criminal legal malpractice suits as public policy in *Hicks*. The Circuit Court identified and interpreted two cases in its decision, *Hicks* and *Tallmadge*, and ultimately determined that Jama must be able to prove his innocence on all charges in the underling criminal suit in order to survive a motion to dismiss. (*Id.* at 5-7).

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Appellate courts review conclusions of law de novo. "An appellate court is not bound by a trial court's conclusions of law and decides the matter de novo." *City of Muskego v. Godec*, 167 Wis. 2d 536, 545, 482 N.W.2d 79 (1992). *In re Disciplinary Proceedings against Jacobson*, 2005 WI 76, Par. 16, 281 Wis.2d 619, 626, 697 N.W.2d 831. The case before the Court is in the context of a motion to dismiss. A motion to dismiss tests the legal sufficiency of the plaintiff's complaint. *Doe v. Archdiocese of Milwaukee*, 211 Wis. 2d 312, 331, 565 N.W.2d 94 (1997). When reviewing such a motion, the court of appeals will accept the alleged facts and the reasonable inferences as

true, but will draw all legal conclusions independently. *Walberg v. St. Francis Home, Inc.*, 2005 WI 64, ¶6, 281 Wis. 2d 99, 697 N.W.2d 36. The court of appeals independently analyzes legal issues without deference to the trial court and should do so here.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The primary legal issue that must be determined is whether or not the public policy element established in *Hicks*, requires Jama to plead his innocence as to every single criminal charge in the underling criminal suit in order to prevail on his legal malpractice claim against Gonzalez. Based upon that determination, this Court must conclude whether or not the Circuit Court erred in granting the Defendant-Appellee's motion to dismiss Jama's legal malpractice suit.

#### I. The Circuit Court's interpretation of *Hicks* and *Tallmadge* is wrong.

In the Circuit Court's oral decision the court analyzed two cases *Hicks v. Nunnery*, 253 Wis.2d 721 (Ct. App. 2002), and *Tallmadge v. Boyle*, 300 Wis.2d 510 (Ct. App. 2007). (R. 23:5). The court did not offer detailed analysis of these cases but stated:

I grant you that both of these cases are not perhaps directly on point, but I do believe that the public policy provisions set forth in these cases are pretty strong in favor of not finding legal malpractice in a criminal case unless the defendant can prove that they are innocent of all charges. *Id.* 

Proof of innocence of *all charges* is not a requirement in legal malpractice actions and is not supported by either of these cases or any current case law in Wisconsin. Jama does not seek recovery or to prove causation for damages as it relates to his conviction of theft.

Jama merely asserts that as result of Gonzalez' negligent representation, he suffered

recoverable injury due to the wrongful, and now vacated, convictions of Second and Third Degree Sexual assault which he has asserted his innocence. The essential distinction the Circuit court and Gonzalez fail to recognize is the difference between the separate underlying criminal conduct at issue.

#### A. Analysis of the *Hicks* Decision

In *Hicks*, the plaintiff, Hicks, filed a legal malpractice claim against his former defense attorney, Nunnery, regarding his representation in an underlying criminal matter. Hicks v. Nunnery, 2002 WI App 87, 253 Wis. 2d 721, 730, 643 N.W.2d 809. Much like Jama, Hicks was convicted of multiple charges, robbery, burglary and sexual assault. *Id*. at 731. Hicks' convictions were eventually vacated and overturned due to ineffective assistance of counsel and he was released from prison prompting his legal malpractice claim. Id. A jury found Nunnery's representation negligent and awarded damages to Hicks. *Id.* Nunnery appealed and argued that Hicks failed to prove that he was innocent of the underling criminal charges. Id. at 735. The court of appeals was tasked with determining whether or not the circuit court erred in its jury instructions by failing to instruct the jury of a proof of innocence requirement. Id. at 746. The court of appeals persuaded by case law determined that Hicks must prove to a jury he is "innocent of the charges of which he was convicted in order to prevail on a claim of legal malpractice..." Id. at 753. The court instructed that Nunnery was entitled to a new trial in which Hicks must "convince five-sixths of the civil jurors, by a preponderance of the evidence, the he did not commit the offenses of which he was convicted." *Id.* at 753-54. Additionally, the

Appellate Court's analysis was made in the context of summary judgment. This decision established the public policy element before us today.

The Hicks court refrained from using the "innocent of all charges" qualifier adopted by the Circuit Court in this case. In fact, the *Hicks* court reserved the finding of guilt or innocence in malpractice actions for a jury. Id. at 755. A jury would be tasked with determining whether or not Hicks could prove his innocence of multiple charges. *Id.* at 753-55. Had a new trial occurred, a jury could have conceivable found that Hicks proved his innocence regarding the sexual assaults but did not meet his burden regarding theft. At no point did the *Hicks* court establish that upon remand Hicks must prove innocence of all charges in order to recover. The Hicks court did not extend such a broad requirement that for Hicks to be successful on his malpractice claim, he must prove actual innocence on all charges. Such a suggestion would comingle the separate causation requirements of a legal malpractice claim and ignore the separate damages stemming from each wrongful conviction. In sum, the *Hicks* court succinctly defines this element as "a matter of public policy, persons who actually commit the criminal offenses for which they are convicted should not be permitted to recover damages for legal malpractice from their former defense attorneys." Id. (emphasis added). This public policy requirement clearly seeks to enforce a broader sense of justice and accountability for criminal actions actually committed but offers no support to the Circuit Court's finding that Jama is barred from asserting innocence to two felonies simply because he did not also assert his innocence as to a misdemeanor theft.

#### B. Analysis of the *Tallmadge* Decision

Tallmadge was a seventy-five year old man who was incarcerated in the California penal system. *Tallmadge v. Boyle*, 2007 WI App 47, 300 Wis. 2d 510, 730 N.W.2d 173, 175. A California jury found him guilty of fifteen counts of sexually assaulting minors and sentenced him to 265 years in prison. In January of 2000, Tallmadge hired Attorney Boyle to focus on securing relief via writ of *habeas corpus*. *Id.* at 176. Boyle prepared a final draft of a state court writ providing it to Tallmadge in March or April 2003. *Id.* Tallmadge was not satisfied with the draft and fired Boyle in July 2003. *Id.* Tallmadge then retained Robert E. Sutton, who filed a writ of *habeas corpus* in federal court in September 2003. *Id.* In March 2004, United States Magistrate Judge Paul Abrams issued a decision dismissing the petition with prejudice based on the fact that it was not timely filed. *Id.* at 177.

As a result of the untimely filed writ, Tallmadge filed an action against Boyle and his insurer alleging legal malpractice among other counts in Wisconsin state court. *Id.* On Boyle's motion for summary judgment, the trial court dismissed the legal malpractice action, and Tallmadge appealed to the Wisconsin court of appeals. *Id.* The court of appeals offered an in-depth analysis of the *Hicks* element in upholding the circuit court's dismissal:

The trial court in the instant case concluded that Tallmadge failed to present sufficient evidence to create a dispute of fact as to causation. We agree with the trial court. There is no evidence to demonstrate that Tallmadge had any possibility of securing a new trial on all fifteen convictions. The federal *habeas* action filed by Sutton addressed only two of the fifteen convictions, and thus, even if it had succeeded, it would not have secured Tallmadge's freedom. *Id.* at 180.

#### The Court further stated:

There is nothing in this record to demonstrate that Tallmadge could prove that any action or inaction by Boyle caused him any recoverable injury. In a situation where a criminally convicted defendant files a legal malpractice lawsuit, the injury is different than in non-criminal settings. In order to prove causation, the convicted criminal must show that, but for his former attorney's conduct, he would have been successful in the criminal lawsuit. Success in this context is not merely to have a court grant a motion or even order a new trial. Success in this context is a get out of jail free card. Thus, success here means proving to a jury that the convicted criminal is innocent of all fifteen counts for which he was convicted. *Hicks* clearly declares this to be the law in Wisconsin. *Id.* at 181-82.

Undoubtedly, in the Circuit Court in Jama's case focused on the last two sentences of this passage. However, the context regarding Jama and Tallmadge could not be more distinguishable. The untimely writ filed in Tallmadge concerned only two of 15 sexual assault criminal counts, all of which individually would have kept the 70 year old man in prison longer than his life expectancy. *Id.* at 178. The ultimate goal of Tallmadge's writ of *habeas corpus* was to receive a new trial and to get out of prison. *Id.* at 181. This could not be accomplished and therefore, Tallmadge was not damaged as a result of the negligent untimely filing. *Id.* 

The issue in *Tallmadge* centered on the causation element and whether or not Tallmadge could prove his attorney's actions caused him recoverable injury. *Id.* ("In order to prove causation, the convicted criminal must show that, but for his former attorney's conduct, he would have been successful in the criminal lawsuit."). Jama has already proven, though his criminal appeal, that but for Gonzalez' negligence, he would not have been convicted of the now vacated sexual assault charges. Jama has already met the burden of proving ineffectiveness and he has received his "get out of jail free card." (R. 13:7). Jama's convictions were vacated and he was released from prison. *Id.* If not for these previous court determinations, Jama would still be a convicted sex offender and

would still be in prison to this day due to his sexual assault convictions. Jama is attempting to show causation for damages sustained as a result of his wrongful sexual assault convictions due to Gonzalez' legal malpractice. Jama does not, nor can he, seek damages for his nine months of incarceration attributable to his theft charge despite Gonzalez' already determined ineffective defense. *Hicks* and *Tallmadge* clearly establish that Jama is precluded from showing he was damaged by Gonzalez' negligent representation regarding the theft charge unless Jama has sufficiently plead innocence as to that charge. (R. 13:3). While Jama does not assert his innocence as to the theft charge, it has no bearing on his innocence as to the sexual assault charges or damages as a result of those erroneous felony convictions. *Hicks* clearly establishes that Jama's innocence relating to the sexual assault charges is a matter for a jury. *Hicks*, 253 Wis. 2d at 755. Proving innocence as to the wrongful sexual assault convictions must be analyzed independently from a separate charge of theft.

# II. Wisconsin case law demands that a proof of innocence determination should be reserved for a jury and does not require proof of innocence as to every underlying charge in a criminal case.

Of the five criminal charges Jama was convicted of, this court only need address the two sexual assault charges and the theft charge as the burglary convictions were previously set aside and Jama did not suffer damages as a result of those initial convictions. (R. 13:5). The distinction between the offenses of sexual assault and theft cannot be overstated. Second Degree sexual assault is a class C felony under Wisconsin criminal code punishable by up to 40 years in prison while theft of movable property under \$2,500 is a class A Misdemeanor punishable by up to 9 months in prions. *Compare*

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