RECEIVED 04-23-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Appeal No. 2019 AP 629

JAMA I. JAMA,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

JASON C. GONZALEZ AND WISCONSIN LAWYERS MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendants-Respondents-Petitioners.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS-RESPONDENTS-PETITIONERS

JASON C. GONZALEZ AND WISCONSIN LAWYERS MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, Defendants-Respondents-Petitioners

HURLEY BURISH, S.C.
33 E. Main Street
Suite 400
Madison, WI 53703
(608) 257-0945
cwhite@hurleyburish.com

Catherine E. White Wisconsin Bar No. 1093836 Peyton B. Engel Wisconsin Bar No. 1087902 Stephen P. Hurley Wisconsin Bar No. 1015654

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

ARGUMENT

The Court should reverse the court of appeals and affirm the judgment of the circuit court. The opinion below overrules long-standing precedent, conflicts with this Court's recent ruling, marks a significant policy change, and is unwarranted by the record in this case.

For decades, Wisconsin courts have required proof of actual innocence as a prerequisite to a finding of liability in a legal malpractice action in which the plaintiff is a criminal defendant. See, e.g., Tallmadge v. Boyle, 2007 WI App 47, 300 Wis. 2d 510, 730 N.W.2d 173; Hicks v. Nunnery, 2002 WI App 87, 253 Wis. 2d 721, 643 N.W.2d 809; Harris v. Bowe, 178 Wis. 2d 862, 868, 505 N.W.2d 159 (Ct. App. 1993); see also Saecker v. Thorie, 234 F.3d 1010, 1013-14 (7th Cir. 2000). Just last year, this Court reaffirmed the long-standing actual innocence rule. See Skindzelewski v. Smith, 2020 WI 57, 392 Wis. 2d 117, 944 N.W.2d 575. Neither this Court nor the court of appeals has ever created an exception to the bright-line actual innocence rule—until the court of appeals' opinion below.

Such ingrained precedent should not be abandoned lightly—especially where, as here, the rule at issue "is clear and workable" and courts "have consistently and coherently followed it." Chris Hinrichs & Autovation Ltd. v. Dow Chemical Co., 2020 WI 2, ¶ 69, 389 Wis. 2d 669, 937 N.W.2d 37. The doctrine of stare decisis militates against adopting the precipitous change in law created by the court of appeals' decision. It is the rare case that presents the special circumstances justifying a departure from existing law:

- (1) Changes or developments in the law have undermined the rationale behind a decision;
- (2) there is a need to make a decision correspond to newly ascertained facts;
- (3) there is a showing that the precedent has become detrimental to coherence and consistency in the law;
- (4) the prior decision is "unsound in principle;" or
- (5) the prior decision is "unworkable in practice."

Bartholomew v. Wis. Patients Comp. Fund & Compcare Health Servs. Ins. Corp., 2006 WI 91, \P 33, 293 Wis. 2d 38, 717 N.W.2d 216.

Such special circumstances are not present here. The court of appeals veered off course when it created a gaping exception to the bright-line actual innocence rule, and this Court must right the ship.

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED BY CREATING AN EXCEPTION TO THE ACTUAL INNOCENCE RULE.

The bright-line actual innocence rule was officially announced by the court of appeals in *Hicks v. Nunnery*, 2002 WI App 87. *Hicks* has produced a settled body of law that has consistently applied the actual innocence rule without exception. In *Tallmadge v. Boyle*, the court of appeals reiterated that "liability in a legal malpractice action when the plaintiff is a criminal defendant cannot be imposed unless the plaintiff can establish that he was

innocent of the charges of which he was convicted." 2007 WI App 47, ¶ 18 (cleaned up). Over the past two decades, considerable reliance has been built upon this easy-tounderstand, bright-line rule.

This Court recently reaffirmed the actual innocence rule in Skindzelewski v. Smith, 2020 WI 57. There, the Court confirmed that there are no exceptions to the actual innocence rule. It rejected a criminal malpractice plaintiff's request to adopt an exception to the actual innocence rule "which would relieve a plaintiff of establishing his innocence whenever defense counsel's negligence results in a conviction or unauthorized by law." 2020 WI 57, ¶ 12. Skindzelewski Court explained, "The law does not recognize a cause of action for a criminal defendant against his attorney merely because a more competent attorney could have achieved a better result." Id. ¶ 23. When a criminal defendant concedes guilt, his "claim of legal malpractice against his criminal defense attorney is legally barred." *Id.*

Until the court of appeals' decision below, no Wisconsin court had ever granted an exception to the actual innocence rule. The court of appeals broke from that pattern, and in doing so, overruled Skindzelewski. But here, just as in *Skindzelewski*, there is "no principled reason to distinguish this case from the rationale of Hicks." Id. ¶ 32 (Hagedorn, J., concurring). Hicks, Tallmadge, and Skindzelewski confirm that the bright-line actual innocence rule is workable in practice. Just as in Skindzelewski, there is no reason for this Court to depart from the coherent and consistent body of law establishing the actual innocence rule.

The rationale underpinning the actual innocence rule remains valid today. *Tallmadge* reiterated the public policy considerations in favor of the rule that were first announced in *Hicks*:

- (1) Permitting a convicted criminal to recover in a legal malpractice action against former defense counsel would result in the criminal being indirectly rewarded for his crimes;
- (2) Permitting a convicted criminal to pursue a legal malpractice claim without requiring proof of innocence would shock the public conscience, engender disrespect for courts and generally discredit the administration of justice;
- (3) Allowing guilty plaintiffs to recover in a civil suit against their former criminal defense attorneys shifts the responsibility for the criminal act away from the convict, who would not be in jail had he not broken the law;
- (4) A guilty criminal does not have a right to liberty, and thus should not benefit from tort law;
- (5) The constitutional safeguards of the criminal justice system provide proper relief and should not give rise to civil liability; and
- (6) Wrongfully convicted defendants have other remedies to redress any wrongs.

Id. \P 22 (cleaned up).

This case exemplifies the policy reasons militating in favor of the bright-line actual innocence rule. A criminal defendant who is convicted of several crimes and later claims that he or she is innocent "in the eyes of the law" of at least one of those crimes, such as Jama, is still a convicted criminal. Jama obtained relief through the criminal justice system because his sexual assault conviction was vacated and his attorney negotiated a deal that resulted in the sexual assault charges being dismissed for the time he served on those convictions. He now seeks additional, monetary relief despite his admitted guilt on the theft charge-and despite his failure even to allege that he is actually innocent of the sexual assault. Allowing him to pursue a malpractice claim would force the victim to sit through a deposition and another trial.9 It would appear that in the civil litigation, the victim would not be afforded the constitutional and statutory protections that she enjoyed as a victim in the criminal case. The victim could not be faulted for losing respect for the courts; nor could the public at large.

The public policy rationale behind the bright-line actual innocence rule remains valid today. One might conceive of other policy considerations militating against the

⁹ Again, Jama admits that he engaged in sexual intercourse with the victim. The only issues are whether the victim was capable of consenting and whether she did in fact consent. Jama alleges that Gonzalez was negligent in failing to effectively cross-examine the victim. Thus, the malpractice litigation would involve relitigating Jama's criminal case, and the victim would be an essential witness.

actual innocence rule, but such policy considerations also existed when the rule was first adopted, and there's no reason to disturb the settled body of law surrounding the rule now. If there are to be changes to the rule, the legislature ought to craft them, as it has the opportunity to hear from all parties with a stake in the broader issues at play. 10 See Borgnis v. Falk Co., 147 Wis. 327, 351, 133 N.W. 209 (1911) ("When acting within constitutional limitations, the legislature settles and declares the public policy of a state, and not the court."). Hicks and its progeny have built a settled body of law on which the courts and other actors-such as the legal malpractice insurance industry—rely. The bright-line rule should remain in place unless and until the legislature says otherwise.

In sum, the actual innocence rule is underpinned by a settled body of law, consistently applied, and is eminently workable in practice. It remains sound in principle. This bright-line rule greatly simplifies the question of who may sue a criminal defense lawyer for malpractice, and in doing so, it streamlines the process of bringing such cases to a conclusion. The rationale behind the Court's original adoption of the rule remains valid. This Court should affirm the consistent application of the actual innocence rule, an application without exceptions.

¹⁰ For example, any change to the actual innocence rule will likely trigger the question whether public defenders are entitled to immunity from criminal malpractice suits - a question that some states have answered through statutory enactment. See Laughlin v. Perry, 604 S.W.3d 621, 631 (Miss. 2020). Wisconsin courts have not yet addressed this question—but for the actual innocence rule, Skindzelewski might have provided the opportunity. Skindzelewksi, 2020 WI 57, ¶ 5 & n.4.

В. IF THERE IS TO BE AN EXCEPTION TO THE ACTUAL INNOCENCE RULE, IT SHOULD BE NARROWER THAN THE ONE ANNOUNCED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS.

This Court should not disturb the actual innocence rule for the reasons explained above. But were the Court inclined to create an exception to the actual innocence rule, it should limit that exception to those plaintiffs who allege actual innocence with respect to criminal convictions that are not part of the same course of conduct as those for which they have admitted guilt.

The California Court of Appeal adopted such a "transactionally related" approach in Wilkinson v. Zelen, 83 Cal. Rptr. 3d 779 (Cal. Ct. App. 2008). Wilkinson was initially arrested for driving under the influence and failing to stop at the scene of an accident; later, after she had been transported to the police station, she battered an officer. She was convicted for all three offenses, but those convictions were later vacated in a post-conviction proceeding based on Wilkinson's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Pursuant to a negotiated plea agreement, Wilkinson then pled no contest to one of the original charges and an added charge, and the remaining two charges were dismissed on the prosecutor's motion; Wilkinson then filed a criminal malpractice claim against her trial counsel. See id. at 781–83.

Wilkinson also relies on the same actual innocence rule with the same public policy underpinnings—as Wisconsin courts do. There's good reason for this: *Hicks* adopted the actual innocence rule as enunciated by the California Supreme Court in Wiley v. County of San Diego, 966 P.2d 983 (Cal. 1998). See Hicks, 2002 WI App 87, ¶¶ 39–46. Wilkinson relied heavily on Wiley, which

controlling precedent in California. remains See Wilkinson, 83 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 781, 785, 788.

Wilkinson applied the same actual innocence rule and the same public policy considerations to similar facts and held that a criminal malpractice plaintiff "must be exonerated of all transactionally related offenses" as a prerequisite to stating a claim for criminal malpractice. 11 83 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 787-88. Wilkinson therefore concluded that the trial court properly dismissed Wilkinson's criminal malpractice claim because the court record and the allegations in her civil complaint unequivocally demonstrated that she entered no contest pleas to two offenses related by the same course of conduct to the charge on which she claimed factual innocence. See id. Wilkinson explained that this result is "consistent with the thrust of Wiley . . . that one who engages in criminal conduct . . . may not recover in a legal malpractice action. Other remedies, such as a new trial or a plea to a reduced offense, . . . are a sufficient remedy for legal malpractice in a criminal prosecution." *Id.* at 788.

That same logic applies here: Jama, by his own admission, engaged in sexual intercourse with and stole from the victim within an 80-minute stretch of time. Jama received a sufficient remedy for any legal malpractice

¹¹ The "exoneration" requirement comes from Coscia v. McKenna & Cuneo, 25 P.3d 670 (Cal. 2001), in which the Supreme Court of California explained that under Wiley, a criminal malpractice plaintiff "must obtain reversal of his or her conviction, or other exoneration by postconviction relief . . . as a predicate to recovery." *Id.* at 674. In other words, vacatur of the conviction is a necessary, but not sufficient, condition to obtain recovery in a legal malpractice action. Actual innocence must still be proven. See id. at 673 (describing the issue presented as "whether exoneration by postconviction relief is required before a plaintiff in a criminal malpractice action can *prove* actual innocence" (emphasis added)).

that may have occurred: he pled to a reduced offense. He should not be allowed to recover damages as a result of his criminal interaction with the victim.

In the opinion below, the court of appeals erroneously assumed that any time served by Jama beyond the maximum time authorized by statute for the charges to which he pleaded guilty "is unconnected to any criminal behavior on Jama's part." Jama, 2021 WI App 3, ¶ 37. "Unconnected" is a stretch, to say the least: the criminal behavior to which Jama pled guilty involves the same location, the same victim, and the same time-span of roughly 80 minutes—in short, the same course of conduct—as the charges to which Jama claims to be innocent "in the eyes of the law."

The court of appeals parted ways with California's courts without explanation, abandoning the bright-line actual innocence rule without adopting California's requirement that criminal malpractice plaintiffs who allege actual innocence with respect to some convictions must also establish that those convictions are not part of the same course of conduct as those for which they have admitted guilt.

Should this Court determine that special circumstances warrant abandoning the bright-line actual innocence rule, the circumstances require that this Court follow California's lead in creating a narrow exception to the bright-line rule.

C. THE RECORD HERE SHOULD NOT PROMPT A CHANGE IN LAW.

Even if members this Court were inclined to adopt a large-scale change in the actual innocence rule—or jettison the rule entirely—this case is not the vehicle in

which to make that change. That's because even without the actual innocence rule, the circuit court properly applied public policy factors to dismiss Jama's claims. See, e.g., Nicols v. Progressive N. Ins. Co., 2008 WI 20, ¶ 12, 308 Wis. 2d 117, 746 N.W.2d 220 ("Wisconsin court have reserved the right to deny the existence of a negligence claim based on public policy reasons." (cleaned up)).

Even if the actual innocence rule were altered to allow some criminal malpractice actions to proceed past the pleadings stage, this case would not proceed. The allegations in Jama's complaint establish that he is attempting to recover damages based on the theory that he has "proven" his innocence "in the eyes of the law" by having convinced the circuit court to vacate the sexual assault conviction based on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel and by having negotiated a deal with the prosecutor to dismiss that charge. R.13, ¶ 26. He admits that he stole items from the victim's apartment during the time that he was also alleged to have sexually assaulted her. *See id.* ¶¶ 7–9. He admits that he engaged in sexual intercourse with the victim. See id. ¶ 8. He does not allege that she was capable of giving consent or that she in fact consented to the sexual intercourse. He does not allege that he is actually innocent of any of his convictions.

Thus, in dismissing Jama's claims, the circuit court referenced the public policy concerns underpinning the actual innocence rule, writing that "allowing civil remedies to guilty plaintiffs impermissibly shifts responsibility for the crime away from the convict" and that "the constitutional safeguards of the criminal justice system should provide proper relief and should not give rise to civil liability." (R. 23, at 5:16-17, 6:2-4.) Regardless whether the actual innocence rule is employed here, this

case shouldn't be allowed to proceed past the pleadings stage. See Hicks, 2002 WI App 87, ¶¶ 106-11 (Dykman, J., dissenting) (describing criminal malpractice scenarios in which Judge Dykman would preclude or allow recovery under the case-by-case approach).

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